STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**

**Mar 08 2021**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Horry County

The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

2015-CP-26-02839

---

Bruce A. Hill, #223106,

PETITIONER,

v.

State of South Carolina,

RESPONDENT.

Appellate Case No.: 2019-001695

---

**PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ASHLEY A. MCMAHAN  
McMahan & Taylor Attorneys, LLC  
PO Box 50536  
Columbia, SC 29250  
(803) 219-1110  
SC Bar No.: 71676

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## QUESTION PRESENTED

1. DID THE PCR ERR IN DENYING THE PETITIONER'S APPLICATION BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT PERMITTED PETITIONER'S COUNSEL TO ASK QUESTIONS, PRESENT EVIDENCE, AND ARGUE SOMEONE ELSE COMMITTED THE CRIME HOWEVER, TRIAL COUNSEL NEVER DID ANY OF THESE AND DENIED THE PETITIONER THE OPPORTUNITY TO SHOW A CONNECTION BETWEEN HIMSELF AND GAGNON?
2. DID THE PCR COURT ERR IN DENYING THE PETITIONER'S APPLICATION AS COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE WHEN HE STIPULATED TO THE CHAIN OF CUSTODY ON THE BLOOD EVIDENCE INSTEAD OF CALLING DEIDRE FAULK AS A WITNESS, WHEN FAULK HAD A PRIOR CONVICTION FOR BREACH OF TRUST THAT SHE COULD HAVE BEEN IMPEACHED ON?
3. DID THE PCR COURT ERR IN DENYING THE PETITIONER'S APPLICATION WHEN COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE WHEN HE FAILED TO IMPEACH GEORGE CARRICK WITH HIS PRIOR CONVICTION FOR BREACH OF TRUST THAT WAS EASILY FOUND ON THE PUBLIC INDEX, EVEN WITHOUT AN NCIC REPORT FROM THE SOLICITOR?
4. DID THE PCR COURT ERR IN DENYING THE PETITIONER'S APPLICATION AS COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE WHEN TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO CHALLENGE THE QUALIFICATIONS OF THE STATE'S EXPERT WITNESS BY CALLING HIS OWN EXPERT WITNESS TO CHALLENGE THE STATE'S PROCESS OF COLLECTING, HANDLING, AND PRESERVATION OF FORENSIC EVIDENCE.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Horry County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on March 31, 2011, for two counts of murder (2011-GS-26-00987, 00988) and one count of burglary – 1<sup>st</sup> degree (2011-GS-26-01327) (App. pp. 689-699). Ronald W. Hazzard of the 15<sup>th</sup> Circuit Public Defender’s Office represented the Petitioner.

On September 1 and 12-14, 2011, the Petitioner proceeded to trial before the Honorable Steven H. John (App. pp. 1 - 427). On September 14, 2011, Petitioner was found guilty on all three counts was sentenced to life without parole on the two counts of murder and a concurrent thirty (30) years on the burglary – 1<sup>st</sup> degree (App. pp. 425 – 426).

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed from the conviction and sentence and an appeal was perfected (App pp. 428-429). Jonathan M. Hiller, Esquire represented the Petitioner on appeal. On October 28, 2013, the appeal was certified for review by the South Carolina Supreme Court (App. p. 508). The South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed the Petitioner’s conviction and sentence by published opinion on July 9, 2014 (App. pp. 510-519). State v. Hill, 409 SC 50, 760 SE2d 802 (2014). The Remittitur was issued on July 25, 2014 (App. p. 518).

Petitioner filed his application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on April 15, 2015. (2015-CP-26-02839). (App. pp. 520-526). The State filed its Return or about August 26, 2015, (App. pp. 579-583). Petitioner also amended his PCR application on September 1, 2017 (App. pp. 527 - 532), on September 14, 2017 (App. p. 533 – 569), and on October 4, 2017 (App pp. 570 – 578).

A hearing was held on November 27, 2018, before the Honorable Kristi F. Curtis at the Horry County Courthouse (App. pp. 584 – 649). Petitioner was present and represented by Matthew S. Swilley, Esquire. Assistant Attorney General Johnny E. James, Jr. represented the Respondent. On September 6, 2019, Judge Curtis dismissed the Petitioner’s PCR application. (App pp. 650 - 688). A timely Notice of Appeal was filed and this petition follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The reviewing court defers to the PCR court's factual findings and will uphold them if supported by any evidence in the record. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 179–181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). Furthermore, the reviewing court affords great deference to a PCR court's credibility findings. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and this court will reverse the PCR court if its decision is controlled by an error of law. Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014).

## ARGUMENT

On April 11-12, 2005, someone shot and killed of Charlie and Diane Gloria Parker. (App. pp. 111-127; 140-218; 220-251; 255-310; 311-316; 270-246). There were four blood samples collected from the scene. (App. p. 187, line 13 – p. 188, line 35). Horry County Police Department (HCPD) Investigator Caulder testified that he collected these blood samples at the scene and marked them as evidence items three, four, seven, and thirteen. (App. p. 193, line 24 – p. 194, line 10).

On April 21, 2005, Lambert, a DNA analyst at the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) started testing the blood samples. (App. p. 260, line 21 – p. 262, line 1). On June 26, 2007, the results of the DNA testing were published and concluded that the blood samples all belonged to an unknown individual. (App. p. 268, lines 12-23.) Lambert's final action related to the DNA report was to upload this report to the Combined DNA Index System (CODIS) database. (App. p. 268, line 24 – p. 269 line 10).

On May 28, 2009, McClure, who was the SLED DNA Database Unit Supervisor received a report of a hit to the CODIS database that matched the DNA profile Lambert had earlier uploaded. (App. p. 273, lines 20-25). The CODIS hit was a DNA profile linked to the Petitioner. (App. p. 275, lines 10-18).

There were a few pre-trial hearings, but at the one on September 1, 2011, before the Honorable Steven H. John, the State requested a ruling that would prohibit any mention of Richard Gagnon's conviction for the same crime (App. p. 11, lines 25 – p. 12, line 21). After argument, Judge John ruled he would only allow the

Petitioner to cross-examine about whether or not there was another person who participated in the double murder. He ruled that Richard Gagnon's trial for the same crime was irrelevant to the Petitioner's trial and that it would invade the jury's role as fact finders to hear another person was already convicted of the same crime. (App. p. 18, lines 16-25). Judge John refused to allow the Petitioner to use Richard Gagnon's name at trial. (App. p. 21, lines 8-19). During the trial, Petitioner's trial counsel never cross-examined any witness about whether or not there was another person who participated in the crime.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. *U.S. Const. amend. VI*; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a PCR applicant must show: (1) counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. To show deficient performance, an applicant must prove "counsel's representation [fell] below an objective standard of reasonableness." Id. at 688. To demonstrate prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 565–66, 689 S.E.2d 629, 631 (2010) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694).

**The PCR court erred in denying the Petitioner's application because the trial court permitted Petitioner's counsel to ask questions, present evidence, and argue someone else committed the crime however, trial counsel never did any of these and denied the Petitioner the opportunity**

**to show a connection between himself and Gagnon.**

As noted above, trial counsel was invited to proceed on a theory of third-party guilt but could not use Richard Gagnon's name while doing so.<sup>1</sup> However, trial counsel failed to pursue this line of defense. [E]vidence that a crime was actually committed by someone other than the accused is admissible for the purpose of generating a reasonable doubt of the guilt of the accused. Ramsey v Commonwealth, 63 Va.App. 341, 354, 757 S.E.2d 576, 583 (Ct. App. 2014). *See also* Jordan v State, 406 S.C. 443, 752, S.E.2d 538, (2013); In Jordan, the evidence of third-party guilt was permitted but trial counsel never pursued this theory during the course of the trial. Trial counsel later testified at the PCR hearing he "was trying to throw mud any place [he] could that it would stick." Id. The appellate court ruled that trial counsel's testimony was at odds with his failure to pursue a third-party guilt defense." Id.

"The rule applicable to the admission of evidence of third-party guilt is well-established: Evidence that another committed the crime for which the defendant is charged generally is relevant and admissible as long as it does more than create an inference or conjecture in this regard. It must point directly to the guilt of the other party. State v. Floyd, 143, N.C. App. 128, 132, 545, S.E.2d 238, 240 (Ct. App. 2001).

Counsel testified he could find no connection linking Gagnon to the Petitioner. (App. pp. 593-595; App. p. 595, line 23 – p. 596, line 6). He also stated Judge John ruled he wasn't "allowed to talk about" the third-party guilt of Gagnon. (App. p. 611, line 9). Trial counsel further noted that Judge John's rulings were

“inconsistent.” (App. p. 611, line 10). If trial counsel understood Judge John’s ruling as he couldn’t mention anything about third-party guilt at all, that understanding was incorrect and thus trial counsel was ineffective.

Even the SC Supreme Court noted that trial counsel did not elicit testimony about third-party guilt when it stated in its opinion “[Petitioner] never presented evidence, drew out on cross, or argued that someone else committed this crime. (App. p. 514). [Petitioner] could have presented evidence to this effect.... (Id). Because trial counsel could have asked questions about Gagnon’s *involvement* and not his *conviction* for the crime, trial counsel was ineffective for not raising that defense during the trial. It was trial counsel who asked for a ruling about that issue prior to trial. Therefore, the PCR Court should have granted the PCR based on this issue.

**The PCR court erred in denying the Petitioner’s application as counsel was ineffective when he stipulated to the chain of custody on the blood evidence instead of calling Deidre Faulk as a witness, when Faulk had a prior conviction for breach of trust that she could have been impeached on.**

Trial counsel did not object to the chain of custody on the blood evidence for HCPD when Diedre Faulk was the one who actually handled it, not Lori Rabon. (App. p 602, lines 8-12). However, Ms. Faulk was relieved of her employment with HCPD prior to Mr. Hill’s trial for falsifying records in the evidence room at HCPD. That information was never disclosed to trial counsel. (App. p. 642, lines 15-20). The PCR Order notes that the public index shows Ms. Faulk pleaded guilty on or about September 17, 2008, to breach of trust with fraudulent intent, 2008-GS-26-00141.

---

<sup>1</sup> See also App. p. 19, lines 9-21.

(App. p. 663).

“Counsel must articulate a valid reason for employing a certain strategy to avoid a finding of ineffectiveness.” Vail v State, 402 S.C. 77, 738 S.E2d 503 (Ct. Apps. 2013). In this instance, trial counsel didn’t articulate a valid reason for stipulating to Ms. Faulk in the chain- rather than challenging the chain and impeaching her credibility - other than he didn’t know about her conviction and firing from HCPD.

Trial counsel testified he “most definitely” would have used the information that Ms. Faulk was fired from HCPD for taking evidence out of the evidence room had he known about it. (App. p. 600, lines 1-9). Trial counsel noted that if he had been aware that Ms. Faulk had been convicted of a felony related to her duties and was fired before Mr. Hill’s trial, he would have tried to introduce that into evidence. (App. p. 602, lines 8-18).

“The tendency to impact credibility, in turn, determines the impeachment value of the prior conviction. Impeachment value refers to how strongly the nature of the conviction bears on the veracity, or credibility, of the witness. State v Black, 400 S.C. 10, 732, S.E.2d 880 (2012). The PCR order noted that the public index shows Ms. Faulk pleaded guilty to breach of trust with fraudulent intent on September 17, 2008. (App. p. 663). Breach of trust with fraudulent intent is a crime of moral turpitude – lying, cheating, and stealing – that would have had great impeachment value on the witness, and ultimately on the chain of custody. For the foregoing reasons, the PCR Court erred in denying the Petitioner’s PCR application

based on this issue.

**The PCR court erred in denying the Petitioner’s application as counsel was ineffective when he failed to impeach George Carrick with his prior conviction for breach of trust that was easily found on the public index, even without an NCIC report from the Solicitor.**

Mr. Carrick was called as a witness in the case in chief (App. pp. 111 – 121) as well a rebuttal witness. (App pp. 321 – 327). He testified about the link between the Parkers and Khalil Moore and Bruce Hill<sup>2</sup>. (App. p. 321, line 24 – p. 326, line 25). Mr. Moore was “you know, another son of [the Parkers].” (App. p. 625, line 1). Mr. Carrick had worked at the Parker’s glass company and was ultimately convicted breach of trust prior to the Petitioner’s trial. (App. p. 112, lines 9-14; App. p. 642, lines 13-15).

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel noted again, that had he know of Mr. Carrick’s conviction for breach of trust, he most certainly would have used it to impeach Mr. Carrick on the stand. (App. p. 591, line 24 – p. 592, line 7). This would have been especially useful since trial counsel indicated he was “blindsided” by Mr. Carrick’s testimony connecting Khalil Moore to the Petitioner. (App. p. 612, line 23 – 2). “I guarantee I was thrown off as far as my cross examination of Mr. Carrick is concerned.” (App. 613, lines 2-4).

“Counsel must articulate a valid reason for employing a certain strategy to avoid a finding of ineffectiveness.” *Vail, supra*. Carrick was convicted of an offense that can be used to impeach him as a witness. Just like with Ms. Faulk, trial counsel had no valid strategy for not using this information other than it wasn’t

---

<sup>2</sup> Khalil Moore had worked with the Parkers at their glass business. Moore was also arrested with Bruce Hill a week

given to him, nor did he attempt to find out about prior to trial.<sup>3</sup> Based on this, the PCR Court erred in denying the Petitioner's PCR application.

**The PCR court erred in denying the Petitioner's application as counsel was ineffective when trial counsel failed to challenge the qualifications of the State's expert witness by calling his own expert witness to challenge the State's process of collecting, handling, and preservation of forensic evidence.**

Trial counsel was ineffective when he failed to call an expert witness to challenge the State's expert witness's qualifications and the process the State used to collect, handle, and preserve the forensic evidence. When a petitioner's ineffective assistance of counsel claim rests on trial counsel's failure to call particular witnesses, expert or otherwise, we require "a specific proffer . . . as to what an expert witness would have testified." Goins v. Warden, Perry Corr. Inst., 576 F. App'x 167, 173 (4th Cir. 2014). See Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 509 S.E.2d 807, 809 (S.C. 1998) ("This Court has repeatedly held a PCR applicant must produce the testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice from the witness' failure to testify at trial"); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 629 S.E.2d 353, 358 (S.C. 2006), abrogated on other grounds by Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (S.C. 2018).

The State called Mr. Caulder as an expert witness at the trial. App. pp. 140. Caulder testified about the procedure once he reaches a crime scene. (App. p. 142,

---

after the Parkers were killed. (App. pp. 111-128; 140-219; 220-251; 255-311; 316-347).

<sup>3</sup> A quick records search of the Horry County Public Index shows that Mr. Carrick was convicted on August 25, 2003, of breach of trust with fraudulent intent and received a five-year sentence suspended to probation, 2003-GS-26-02456.

line 21 – p. 144, line 12). Trial counsel did not adequately cross-examine Mr. Caulder during the trial about the State’s processes regarding forensic evidence. While trial counsel asked a few questions of Mr. Caulder regarding the 7-8 days it took for him to actually take the evidence to the police department (*see* App. p. 218, lines 15-25), Trial counsel didn’t ask much in the way of substantive questions challenging the forensic evidence collection process. That is the job of an expert witness. (“I was trying hard to point out the fact that [the evidence]” was not secure. App. p. 601, lines 1-2.) Trial counsel admitted he never tried to get an expert witness in crime scene analysis for this case. App. p. 601, lines 3-6.

At the PCR hearing, the Petitioner called Peter Wade, a private investigator and consultant on criminal trial litigation matters. *See* App. pp. 626 – 647. Mr. Wade was qualified as an expert witness in crime scene analysis. App. p. 632, lines 1-5. Mr. Wade indicated he found the chain of custody was “seriously breached.” App. p. 632, line 21. Mr. Wade noted that Mr. Caulder turned in the blood evidence eight days after he supposedly collected it. App. p. 635, line 17 – p. 636, line 9. However, Mr. Caulder testified that he placed in the evidence into storage at the Horry County Police Department that day. App. p. 201, lines 7-21. (“[E]vidence is secure from the time I get on scene and I collect...until it is released by evidence.” App. p. 203, lines 12-16.)

Even trial counsel noted he had issues with the collection of evidence in this case. He stated that he had concerns when the “evidence custodian who collects evidence at the scene... takes it and tosses it into what they refer to as a bucket, I

do not think in any way, shape, or form that that would be considered appropriate.” (App. p. 606, lines 13-17). Trial counsel also noted that he did not research or review the protocols of the HCPD, and only knew what he knew from “from training at CLEs and things of that nature.” (App. p. 606, lines 18-25).

The PCR order noted that an expert witness cannot be called to testify as to the credibility of another expert witness. However, Petitioner’s expert would not have been testifying as to the credibility of Caulder, rather the Petitioner’s expert would be testifying and challenging the State’s process related to the forensic evidence (and the lack of a process). Mr. Wade found serious issues with the chain of custody, lack of hair collection at the crime scene, and failure to comport with proper protocols in the collection and storing of evidence. If that testimony is at odds with Mr. Caulder’s it does not mean it’s a challenge to Mr. Caulder’s credibility. It’s a challenge to the DNA evidence to show that it wasn’t properly collected and stored prior to being tested. Therefore, the PCR Court erred in denying the Petitioner relief on this issue.

-this has been left intentionally blank-

## CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioner submits this Court should grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.