STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

May 24 2021

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Horry County
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Steven H. John, Trial Judge
The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001695

BRUCE A. HILL. Petitioner.

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA. Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHELSEY F. MARTO
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 104191

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the petitioner so that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. The court makes this determination based upon the totality of the evidence. *Id.* at 695. Importantly, "[t]he likelihood of a different result must be *substantial*, not just conceivable." *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 112 (2011).

I. The post-conviction relief court properly determined that Petitioner failed to establish counsel was ineffective when he did not pursue a third-party guilt strategy when the Court prohibited admission of the third-party's conviction and evidence of third-party guilt was irrelevant to the issue of Petitioner's guilt.

On appeal, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying relief because Counsel was ineffective for failing to argue a third-party guilt defense involving Gagnon. However, the PCR court properly rejected this argument, finding Counsel was precluded by the Court from bringing Gagnon's conviction into evidence and, even if not precluded, Gagnon's guilt was irrelevant to the issue of Petitioner's guilt. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. Thus, this Court should deny certiorari.

Whether Counsel was deficient hinges on if a valid trial strategy was used. *See Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546, 548, 419 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1992) (where "counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel"). "[E]vidence of third-party guilt that only tends to raise a conjectural inference that the third party, rather than the defendant, committed the crime should be excluded." *State v. Cope*, 405 S.C. 317, 341, 748 S.E.2d 194, 206 (2013) (citing *State v. Gregory*, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532 (1941)). "Furthermore, to be admissible, evidence of third-party guilt must be limited to such facts as are inconsistent with the defendant's own guilt, and to such facts as raise a

reasonable inference or presumption as to his own innocence.” *Id.* (internal quotations omitted).

Counsel was not deficient. As a threshold matter, two observations bear mentioning about the Supreme Court’s opinion in the direct appeal. First, is the Court’s admonition that Petitioner misunderstood the trial court’s ruling appears largely directed at Petitioner as he argued on appeal—namely, appellate counsel. Appellate counsel initially represented Petitioner in this PCR proceeding, and raised the allegations upon which he ultimately proceeded. Appellate counsel, in his capacity as prior PCR counsel, appears to have imputed his own misunderstanding of the trial court’s ruling to trial counsel. Trial counsel’s testimony reflects no such misunderstanding, but rather reflects his recognition of the limited value of insisting on Gagnon’s guilt where the State’s theory involved multiple perpetrators. Second, the Supreme Court’s remark that Petitioner *could* have presented evidence of third-party guilt does not appear to be a firm ruling that such evidence would have been appropriate, but rather that the trial court’s ruling did not prohibit it. These observations are important because the facts provide that Counsel correctly concluded and advised Petitioner that introducing evidence of Gagnon’s guilt was of little to no value because such evidence was not inconsistent with Petitioner’s own guilt.

Though Counsel was permitted to question witnesses about the presence of others, evidence concerning another individual’s convictions was prohibited. (App. 19). Further, because the State’s theory involved multiple perpetrators, arguing that Gagnon was present would have had no bearing on the issue of Petitioner’s guilt, especially because the DNA matched to Petitioner. (App. 16-17). At the PCR hearing, Counsel testified that he did not pursue a third-party guilt strategy that Gagnon was responsible because the court forbade any mention or intimation that Gagnon was convicted, and even if they could, Gagnon’s guilt would not rule out Petitioner’s involvement. (App. 611). Refusing to explore a line of defense both prohibited

and irrelevant is reasonable and, accordingly, Counsel should not be found deficient.

Further, omission of admission of irrelevant evidence at trial did not prejudice Petitioner. *See Putnam v. State*, 417 S.C. 252, 266, 789 S.E.2d 594, 601 (S.C. Ct. App. 2016) (finding that petitioner was not prejudiced when the testimony in questions was irrelevant to the petitioner's guilt and was inappropriate under a third-party guilt approach). Here, admission of third party guilt evidence was not inconsistent with Petitioner's own guilt, given the State's multiple perpetrators theory. Accordingly, a campaign against Gagnon, since relieved of his convictions, would have been utterly irrelevant to Petitioner's own guilt, which appears to be why Counsel denied any desire to pursue a third-party guilt strategy in the first place. *Had* Counsel pursued the subject of third-party guilt, the trial court would have been required to exclude the evidence. *Cope*, 405 S.C. at 341, 748 S.E.2d at 206 (finding that third party guilt evidence should be excluded if it "only tends to raise a conjectural inference that the third party, rather than the defendant, committed the crime). Thus, Petitioner was not prejudiced by any alleged deficiency because of lack of probative value of third-party guilt evidence in this case. Thus, no prejudice has been demonstrated and, accordingly, certiorari should be denied.

II. Petitioner's allegation that counsel was ineffective for stipulating to the chain of custody report instead of calling Faulk as a witness solely to impeach her based upon a prior conviction was not properly preserved on appeal, but even if it was properly preserved, Petitioner's claim does not require a remand and lacks merit because Counsel did not know about the conviction or her involvement in the chain of custody at trial, articulated a reasonable strategy in deciding to challenge the time frame and security of the chain of custody instead of alleging the chain was tampered with without any evidence to substantiate the claim with and Petitioner was not prejudiced as a result because the witness was not called at the PCR hearing and a baseless objection to the chain of custody would have been overruled.

On appeal, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying him relief because Counsel erroneously stipulated to the chain of custody report instead of calling Faulk to testify to impeach

her based on a prior conviction. However, the PCR court properly rejected this argument, finding that Counsel did not know about the conviction or Faulk's involvement in the chain of custody at the time of trial, he articulated a reasonable strategic decision in deciding to challenge the time frame and security of the chain of custody instead of alleging the chain was tampered with without any evidence to substantiate the claim with, and Petitioner was not prejudiced because the witness was not called at the PCR hearing and a baseless objection to the chain of custody would have been overruled. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. Consequently, this Court should deny certiorari.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner alleged Counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate the prior conviction of a State's witness in Gagnon's trial and use the conviction to impeach him. However, on now on appeal, Petitioner argues Counsel was ineffective for failing to call the State's witness at trial instead of stipulating to the chain of custody report. Because the current claim was never raised in PCR court, it is not preserved for this Court's review.

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure, *Gaddy v. Douglass*, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004), ensuring the trial court has an opportunity "to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). For an issue to properly be preserved for appellate review, it must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, raised by the appellant, raised in a timely manner, and raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., *APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA* 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). Although our courts have recognized the somewhat

relaxed procedures in PCR cases and will excuse procedural defaults in extraordinary cases, “[i]n most PCR cases, however, [appellate courts] have refused to excuse the pleading and issue-preservation requirements that apply in all civil cases.” *Mangal v. State*, 421 S.C. 85, 97, 805 S.E.2d 568, 574 (2017). In *Mangal*, our Supreme Court noted:

[T]here are situations where the interests of justice require PCR courts to be flexible with procedural requirements before PCR applicants suffer procedural default on substantial claims. Such flexibility is consistent with the purpose and spirit of our Rules of Civil Procedure. These considerations should guide PCR courts when struggling to balance procedural requirements against the importance of the issues at stake in PCR proceedings. We encourage trial courts in PCR cases to use the discretion we grant them on procedural matters to find reasonable ways—within the flexibility of our Rules—to reach the merits of substantial issues.

Mangal, 421 S.C. at 99–100, 805 S.E.2d at 575–76.

Petitioner never raised the claim that Counsel was ineffective for failing to call Faulk as an adverse witness. However, Petitioner now attempts to bypass preservation requirements by weaving this argument into the assertion that Counsel was ineffective for stipulating to the chain of custody and to impeach Faulk, who never testified at the trial. This issue is not properly and this is not an extraordinary case where preservation deficiencies should be overlooked.

Even if this issue was preserved, Petitioner is not entitled to relief on this ground. “In most PCR cases in which the petitioner seeks relief for trial counsel’s failure to call witnesses, the PCR court’s analysis—and the analysis by the appellate court—is focused on the strategic considerations of counsel in balancing the potential benefits of calling a particular witness against the identifiable risks.” *Buckson v. State*, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018). Counsel’s performance is not ineffective if he decided not to present a witness because it was unlikely to make a difference at trial. *See e.g. Smith v. State*, 404 S.C. 493, 502, 745 S.E.2d 378, 383 (2012) (finding counsel was not ineffective when petitioner failed to establish prejudice);

Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 457-58, 710 S.E.2d 60, 65 (2011) (stating that counsel was not ineffective because the witness could not withstand cross-examination due to his prior vacillation and the cumulative nature of his testimony and he knew the petitioner’s statement to the police would be entirely consistent with the supposed witness’s statement at trial); *Glover v. State*, 318 S.C. 496, 498, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995) (finding counsel was not deficient for failing to call an alibi witnesses when the two proffered witnesses did not establish the alibi).

Prejudice is usually found if the testimony was significant enough to change the trial proceedings. *See e.g. Lounds v. State*, 380 S.C. 454, 670 S.E.2d 646 (2008) (finding prejudice when witnesses would have corroborated petitioner or bolstered his credibility enough to change the trial proceedings); *Thomas v. State*, 308 S.C. 123, 417 S.E.2d 531 (1992) (finding prejudice when uncalled witness’ testimony would have cast doubt on the sole witness’ identification). To show prejudice, the witness(es) testimonies must be produced at the PCR hearing, consistent with the rules of evidence. *Glover*, 318 S.C. at 498-99, 458 S.E.2d at 540. Mere speculation regarding the testimony is insufficient. *Clark v. State*, 315S.C. 385, 434 S.E.2d 266 (1993).

Concerning the chain of custody, the Supreme Court “has long held that a party offering into evidence fungible items such as drugs or blood samples must establish a complete chain of custody as far as practicable.” *State v. Hatcher*, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting *State v. Sweet*, 374 S.C. 1, 6, 647 S.E.2d 202, 205 (2007)). “Where the substance analyzed has passed through several hands the evidence must not leave it to conjecture as to who had it and what was done with it between the taking and the analysis.” *Id.* (quoting *Benton v. Pellum*, 232 S.C. 26, 33-34, 100 S.E.2d 534 (1957)). “Testimony from each custodian of fungible evidence, however, is not a prerequisite to establishing a chain of custody sufficient for admissibility.” *Id.* “Where other evidence establishes the identity of those who have handled the

evidence and reasonably demonstrates the manner of handling the evidence, our courts have been willing to fill gaps in the chain of custody due to an absent witness.” *Id.*

“Proof of chain of custody need not negate all possibility of tampering so long as the chain of possession is complete.” *Id.*, 392 S.C. at 92, 708 S.E.2d at 753 (quoting *State v. Carter*, 344 S.C. 419, 424, 544 S.E.2d 835, 837 (2001)). “In applying this rule, we have found evidence inadmissible only where there is a missing link in the chain of possession because the identity of those who handled the substance was not established at least as far as practicable.” *Id.* (emphasis omitted). “Minor discrepancies in the chain of custody implicates the credibility of the evidence, but does not render the evidence inadmissible.” *State v. Patterson*, Op. No. 5611 (S.C.Ct.App. filed Jan. 1, 2019) (Shearouse Adv.Sh. No. 1 at 67) (citing *State v. Taylor*, 360 S.C. 18, 24-25, 598 S.E.2d 735, 738 (Ct. App. 2004)); *see also State v. Smith*, 326 S.C. 39, 41-42, 482 S.E.2d 777, 779 (1997) (affirming admissibility of blood tests event though the arresting officer stored the blood sample in his home refrigerator prior to testing, noting that there was no evidence of tampering); *State v. Kahan*, 268 S.C. 240, 244, 233 S.E.2d 293, 294 (1977) (ruling the ballistics test results of a nightgown worn by the deceased and placed in the evidence locker in a plastic bag were admissible even though there was no testimony as to the care and handling of the plastic bag containing the gown during the time it was in the evidence locker).

Counsel was not deficient for failing to call Faulk as a witness instead of stipulating to the chain of custody. Though Petitioner challenges the conclusion that the blood samples taken from the house are the same as those tested and profiled, no claim was raised indicating that the chain of custody was ever tampered with. Instead, each person in the chain was identified at trial and the chain of custody was properly established at trial. Petitioner argues there is an inconsistency between the chain of custody as presented in his and Gagnon’s trials. However,

this would not be a basis for suppressing the evidence, but could only implicate the evidence's credibility. Instead of asserting a defense built on a baseless foundation, Counsel developed a different strategy concerning the chain of custody, highlighting the extended period of time between when the samples were taken and when they were put in the evidence locker and how the evidence may not have been properly secured at that time. (App. 600-01). This strategy was seemingly stronger and could only be raised if the chain was admitted. Even if the objection was not baseless, Counsel made a strategic decision in pursuing this defense because calling a witness loosely related to the case only to admit evidence of their prior conviction is an unreasonable request. Accordingly, no deficiency can be found.

Petitioner was not prejudiced by any deficiency. Petitioner was required to call Faulk as a witness at the PCR hearing to meet his burden of proof. *See Glover v. State*, 318 S.C. 496, 498-99, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995) (to show Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's deficiency for failure to call a witness, the witness(es) must be produced at the PCR evidentiary hearing or the testimony must otherwise be presented, consistent with the rules of evidence). Petitioner did not do this. Additionally, because the objection would be baseless, the judge likely would have overruled it, rendering the objection non-consequential to the trial proceedings. Accordingly, because Petitioner was not prejudiced by any deficiency, relief should be denied on this ground.

III. The post-conviction relief court properly determined that Petitioner failed to establish counsel was ineffective for failing to impeach Carrick with his prior conviction because Counsel had no reason to prepare an impeachment, was blindsided at trial concerning the importance of Carrick's testimony and Petitioner was not prejudiced by any alleged deficiency because the impeachment proffered was weak, at best, and did not impact the results of the trial proceedings.

On appeal, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying him relief because Counsel was ineffective for failing to impeach Carrick for a prior conviction. The PCR court properly

rejected this argument, finding that Counsel had no reason to prepare to impeach Carrick, was blindsided by the testimony while at trial, and no prejudice found because the impeachment proffered would not have impacted the trial. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. Thus, this Court should deny certiorari.

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